# RECEIVED

# STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-27-2018

# IN SUPREME COURT CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

## Appeal No. 2017AP001261-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-vs-

JUSTIN A. BRAUNSCHWEIG, Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

# ON REVIEW OF A COURT OF APPEALS DECISION AFFIRMING THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR JEFFERSON COUNTY, THE HONORABLE RANDY R. KOSCHNICK, PRESIDING

### **BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER**

Respectfully submitted,

JUSTIN A. BRAUNSCHWEIG Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

A. CAN AN EXPUNGED PRIOR OWI CONVICTION BE CONSIDERED AT SENTENCING IN A SUBSEQUENT OWI CASE?

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION: Yes.

B. WHAT IS THE STATE'S BURDEN OF PROOF ON THE EXISTENCE OF A PREDICATE PRIOR OWI CONVICTION AT SENTENCING?

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION: Did not expressly address, but appears to have applied the beyond a reasonable doubt standard.

C. IF THIS COURT ELECTS TO REVISIT *McAllister*, should it SIMPLIFY THE LEGAL ANALYSIS BY REQUIRING PREDICATE PRIOR OFFENSES BE TREATED AS ELEMENTAL IN ANY CRIMINAL OWI/PAC CASE WHERE THE EXISTENCE OR CONTINUED VALIDITY OF SAME IS IN DISPUTE?

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION: Acknowledged preservation of a good faith argument.

### **STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION**

While the relief sought could be granted by application of existing precedent in a *per curiam* disposition, to the extent this Court's opinion will clarify application of that precedent to a different set of facts likely to recur, this Court should nonetheless conclude that a published opinion is warranted.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Defendant-appellant-petitioner believes oral argument affords clarification and exposition of the issues, and stands ready to provide argument as directed by the Court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 2, 2016, Justin Braunschweig was stopped, detained, and arrested for operating under the influence. He submitted to a chemical test of his breath producing a result of .16 g/210 L of his breath. R. 1, p. 2. He was cited for operating under the influence and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. R. 2, R. 3. The criminal complaint cites one prior conviction as the necessary predicate offense to make this case criminal. R. 1, p. 3. It is undisputed that said conviction had been previously expunged. R. 31, p. 11. Braunschweig filed a motion challenging the sufficiency of an expunged conviction to serve as a predicate offense. R. 13. The trial court ruled against the defense. R. 30. Braunschweig then waived jury trial. R. 31. The matter was tried to the court. R. 32. The defense made a good faith argument that the existence of at least one prior conviction is a status element in a second offense case that, if not stipulated to, is for the trier of fact, and must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. R. 19. The trial court rejected that argument. R. 13. The case was then tried to the court, and Braunschweig was convicted. R. 24. From those convictions, an appeal was taken. On February 1, 2018, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in an unpublished opinion authored by a single judge. On June 11, 2018 this Court granted Braunschweig's petition to review the decision of the Court of Appeals.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THE OWI GRADUATED PENALTY STRUCTURE IS NOTHING MORE THAN A PENALTY ENHANCER SIMILAR TO A REPEATER ENHANCER.

In Wisconsin, an unenhanced first offense OWI is not a crime. Such an offense becomes criminal if one or more countable predicate suspensions, revocations, or convictions exist. *See* Wis. Stat. §346.65(2)(am). In *State v. McAllister*, 107 Wis. 2d 532, 319 N.W.2d 865, 866 (1982), this Court accepted certification from the Court of Appeals on the issue of whether prior violations of Wis. Stat. §346.63(1) as it existed at the time were elements of the crime of driving or operating a motor vehicle while under the influence. The case was argued to this Court on April 28, 1982, a few days before the then newly created prohibited alcohol concentration charge went into effect, a fact noted in footnote 4 of the Court's decision.

McAllister contended that "since he cannot be convicted of this crime unless there has been a previous civil or criminal conviction of the same offense, the previous conviction is an element of the offense and must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt to the jury." 107 Wis. 2d at 538, 319 N.W. 2d at 868. In rejecting McAllister's contention, this Court expressly held as follows:

The penalties for violation of OMVWI are contained in sec. 346.65(2), Stats. Repeated violations are subject to increasingly harsher penalties. *This graduated penalty structure is nothing more than a penalty enhancer similar to a repeater statute which does not in any way alter the nature of the substantive offense, i.e., the prohibited conduct, but rather goes only to the question of punishment.* 

107 Wis. 2d at 535, 319 N.W.2d at 867. [Emphasis added].

In doing so, this Court recognized this construction of repeater statutes as the construction of a legislative directive repeatedly upheld by this Court, not law made by this Court. 107 Wis. 2d at 538, 319 N.W.2d at 868.

## II. AN EXPUNGED CONVICTION IS A NULLITY THAT CANNOT BE CONSIDERED AT SENTENCING FOR A SUBSEQUENT OFFENSE.

In State v. Leitner, 2002 WI 77, ¶ 2, 253 Wis. 449, 454, 646 N.W.2d 341,

343, this Court addressed the following two issues.

(1) Does Wis. Stat. §973.015 (1999-2000) require district attorneys and law enforcement agencies to expunge their records documenting the facts underlying an expunged record of a conviction? (2) May a circuit court consider, when sentencing an offender, the facts underlying a record of a conviction expunged under §973.015? [Footnotes omitted].

It chose to do so despite the fact that the case before it was arguably moot, noting that the case presented issues likely to arise again, requiring resolution by the Court. 2002 WI 77, ¶ 15, 253 Wis. 2d at 459, 646 N.W.2d at 346. To answer the questions presented, this Court was required to interpret the legislature's intent as to how information related to an expunged conviction can and cannot be utilized by a sentencing court. This Court accepted the uncontested proposition that Wis. Stat. 973.015 was "intended to provide a break to young offenders who demonstrate the ability to comply with the law." 2002 WI 77, ¶ 38, 253 Wis. 2d at 471, 646 N.W.2d at 352.

The *Leitner* case arose out of a traffic crash which resulted in serious injury. Originally charged with hit and run causing great bodily harm, Leitner entered a no contest plea to the amended charge of reckless driving causing great bodily harm. 2002 WI 77, ¶ 4, 253 Wis. 2d at 455, 646 N.W.2d at 344. This Court expressly recognized that record of a conviction expunged under Wis. Stat. §973.015 might continue to be found in numerous locations, including in the records of the Department of Transportation. 2002 WI 77, ¶ 28, 253 Wis. 2d at 465-466, 646 N.W.2d at 349. While holding that the facts underlying expunged convictions as might be gleaned from such records can be used at sentencing, this Court expressly held that the convictions themselves cannot.

Expunction of a court record of a conviction enables an offender to have a clean start so far as the prior conviction is concerned. As the State points out, expunging the court record provides substantial advantages to the offender: *An expunged record of a conviction cannot be considered at a subsequent sentencing;* an expunged record of a conviction cannot be used for impeachment at trial under §906.09(1); *and an expunged record of a conviction is not available for repeater sentence enhancement.* 

2002 WI 77, ¶ 39, 253 Wis. 2d at 472, 646 N.W.2d at 352. [Footnotes omitted, emphasis added].

# III. ABSENT AN EXPRESS LEGISLATIVE DIRECTIVE TO TREAT EXPUNGED OWI CONVICTIONS DIFFERENTLY, THIS COURT'S PRIOR CONSTRUCTIONS OF THE APPLICABLE STATUTES MUST STAND.

This Court determined in *McAllister* that the graduated penalty structure applicable in OWI cases is nothing more than a penalty enhancer similar to any other repeater enhancer. This Court determined in *Leitner* that an expunged record of conviction is not available for use at sentencing or to serve as a predicate for a repeater enhancer. Both *McAllister* and *Leitner* involved this Court's binding interpretation of legislative intent in the construction of the applicable statutes.

Absent a clear legislative directive to carve out an exception to the application of this precedent in OWI cases, this Court cannot condone or create such an exception unless it is prepared to overrule or modify those decisions. This binding precedent renders the Court of Appeals' determination in *State v. Van Riper*, 2003 WI App 237, 267 Wis. 2d 759, 672 N.W.2d 156 irrelevant to the question at hand. Accepting that a certified DOT abstract can serve as sufficient proof of the existence of a prior conviction at an OWI sentencing, under *Leitner*, an expunged conviction still cannot be used at sentencing even if it continues to be reflected in those DOT records. In this case, where it is undisputed that the predicate prior was expunged, consideration of that expunged conviction at Braunschweig's sentencing was contrary to *Leitner*, and the resulting criminal conviction must be reversed.

# IV. *McAllister* is silent on the state's burden of proof AT sentencing.

After Braunschweig filed a motion in the trial court seeking a determination on the sufficiency of his expunged conviction to serve as the required predicate prior offense, R. 13, the State's initial response in the trial court argued that *State v*. *Leitner*, 2002 WI 77, 253 Wis. 2d 449, 646 N.W.2d 341, controlled the trial court's use of an expunged conviction. R. 14. Braunschweig agreed. R. 15. At the hearing on the motion, the State abandoned the argument that *Leitner* was controlling, and instead asserted that *State v. Van Riper*, 2003 WI App 237, 267 Wis. 2d 759, 672 N.W.2d 156 was the controlling case. R. 29, pp. 22-23. On April 7, 2002, Van Riper was arrested for operating under the influence and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. Under the statutory structure applicable at the time, Wisconsin's prohibited alcohol level was set at .10, however, an individual with two or more prior convictions was subject to a lower .08 prohibited alcohol level. 2003 WI App 237, ¶¶ 3 and 4, 267 Wis. 2d at 762, 672 N.W.2d at 158.

Prior to trial, Van Riper stipulated that he had been operating a motor vehicle, and that he had an alcohol concentration in excess of .08 at the time. He disputed the existence of the necessary predicate priors, however, and the parties agreed that this status element question would be resolved by means of a court trial. *Van Riper*, 2003 WI App 237, ¶ 4, 267 Wis. 2d at 762, 672 N.W.2d at 158.

At the ensuing trial, the State filed a certified DOT transcript of Van Riper's driving record, which reflected a November 1989 OWI conviction in Minnesota and an October 1993 OWI conviction in Wisconsin. The issue at the trial was whether the certified DOT transcript was admissible evidence and, if so, whether it sufficed to prove Van Riper's repeater status beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court received the DOT driving record as evidence at the trial and further ruled that it established Van Riper's status as a repeat offender beyond a reasonable doubt. Van Riper appeals from the ensuing judgment of conviction.

2003 WI App 237, ¶ 5, 267 Wis. 2d at 762-763, 672 N.W.2d at 158.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court.

We conclude that the trial court properly exercised its discretion when it admitted Van Riper's certified DOT driving record as evidence and that such evidence established Van Riper's repeater status as an element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

2003 WI App 237, ¶ 21, 267 Wis. 2d at 770, 672 N.W.2d at 162.

Despite the fact that *Van Riper* appears to establish, or at least assume that the State's burden of proof on priors is beyond a reasonable doubt, in the instant case, the State argued, and the trial court agreed that a lower burden applied. R. 31, pp. 12-13.<sup>1</sup>

In the Court of Appeals, the State appeared to continue to advocate for some unspecified lesser burden in the instant case, citing to *Van Riper*, 2003 WI App 237, ¶11, 267 Wis. 2d at 765, 672 N.W.2d at 159. Court of Appeals Brief of Plaintiff-Respondent at p. 6.<sup>2</sup> That section of the *Van Riper* opinion extensively quotes this Court's opinion in *State v. Wideman*, 206 Wis. 2d 91, 556 N.W.2d 737 (1996) addressing the inapplicability of Wis. Stat. §973.12 to OWI sentencings. It is argued that both this Court's opinion in *Wideman* and the statute address the timing and manner of proof, not the burden of proof. The Court of Appeals in *Van Riper* appeared to agree, clearly applying the beyond a reasonable doubt standard to the proof of Van Riper's priors. Regardless of what position the State may take before this Court, it is respectfully argued that proof of predicate priors in both OWI and PAC cases must be beyond a reasonable doubt, whether at sentencing, or at trial, and this Court should so state to avoid similar confusion going forward.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The trial court did ultimately find that Braunschweig's certified driving abstract did meet the higher burden, should it apply. R. 31, p. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This Court's order granting review ordered the parties to file additional copies of their briefs to the Court of Appeals with this Court. Upon information and belief, no record cite is available.

# V. IN THE EVENT THIS COURT CHOOSES TO OVERRULE OR MODIFY *McAllister*, it should consider the changes in the law that have occurred over the intervening decades.

As argued above, this Court does not need to modify or overrule *McAllister*, *Leitner*, or *Van Riper* to resolve the questions presented by this case. Should this Court elect to do so, it is respectfully argued that substantial changes in the law since *McAllister* was decided warrant reconsideration of the determination that predicate priors are not elemental. At the time McAllister was arrested and charged, there was no such thing as a prohibited alcohol concentration charge.

However, once the legislature created differing prohibited alcohol levels based on the number of predicate priors, those prior convictions became status elements in those PAC cases, which pursuant to Wis. Stat. \$346.63(1)(c) must be tried together with the companion OWI charge. Where the existence of these status elements on the PAC charge is not stipulated, *McAllister* creates a dichotomy in the timing and manner of proof as to predicate priors on paired OWI and PAC charges. On PAC charges, where the continued existence or validity of predicate priors is disputed, the question is for the jury, but on the companion OWI, is reserved to the sentencing court. *See*, for example, Wis. JI Criminal 2660C, Operating a Motor Vehicle With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration – Criminal – More than 0.02 Grams - \$346.63(1)(b), as set forth in pertinent part below:

NOTE: THE DEFENDANT'S ADMISSION OF THREE OR MORE PRIOR CONVICTIONS DISPENSES WITH THE NEED FOR PROOF OF THE FOLLOWING ELEMENT. IF THERE IS AN ADMISSION, DO NOT INSTRUCT ON THIS ELEMENT

# AND PROCEED TO THE PARAGRAPH CAPTIONED "HOW TO USE THE TEST RESULT EVIDENCE."

[3. The defendant had three or more convictions, suspensions, or revocations, as counted under §343.307(1).]

Wis. JI Criminal 2660C, p. 2 [footnotes omitted].

Such an instruction could easily be applied to both the OWI and PAC charges in cases where the existence of the necessary predicate priors is not stipulated to.

Furthermore, at the time *McAllister* and *Wideman* were decided, simple OWI charges were all misdemeanors, a fact noted by the Court in *Wideman*. 206 Wis. 2d at 106, 556 N.W.2d at 744. In contrast, current law applies a .02 prohibited alcohol level to an accused with three or more predicate priors, and all fourth and subsequent offenses are felonies. A disputed predicate prior therefore currently not only makes the difference between a criminal conviction and a forfeiture conviction as presented on the facts of both the instant case and *McAllister*, but also the difference between a misdemeanor and a felony for an accused alleged to have at least three predicate priors. Should the Court elect to revisit *McAllister*, it is respectfully argued that it should make the existence of predicate priors an element of proof in all criminal OWI and PAC cases, submitting this status element to the jury on both charges in cases where the continued existence or validity of predicate priors is in dispute.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Consistent with *McAllister*, this Court should expressly apply *Leitner* to OWI cases, reverse the Court of Appeals, remand this case to the trial court with instructions that Braunschweig's expunged prior conviction cannot be considered at

sentencing, and confirm that the burden of proof at sentencing in criminal OWI cases

is beyond a reasonable doubt.