RECEIVED 09-17-2018

No. 17AP1261

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
OF WISCONSIN

In the Supreme Court of Wisconsin

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

v.

JUSTIN A. BRAUNSCHWEIG, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

On Appeal From The Jefferson County Circuit Court, The Honorable Randy R. Koschnick, Presiding, Case No. 16CT412

RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL
Attorney General

RYAN J. WALSH Chief Deputy Solicitor General

SOPEN B. SHAH Deputy Solicitor General Counsel of Record

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 shahsb@doj.state.wi.us (608) 261-8107

Attorneys for the State of Wisconsin

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution require the State to prove to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt all "elements" of a defendant's crime that increase the potential maximum sentence. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 476–77 (2000). Prior convictions, however, are not an "element" of a defendant's crime even if they increase the potential maximum sentence. Almendarez-Torres, 523 U.S. 224. This exception is rooted mainly in historical understanding and practice. The founding generation considered recidivism "[un]relate[d] to the commission of the offense" and relevant to "punishment only." Id. at 243–44 (citation omitted). Prior convictions did not affect the lawfulness of the defendant's conduct in the proceedings at hand. In addition, prior convictions were already subject to the judicial process.

This Court, consistent with Apprendi and Almendarez-Torres, has held that prior convictions under the Penalty-Enhancement Statute are not "elements" that the State must prove to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d at 532–33. The statute implicates recidivism, the most "typical" sentencing factor. Almendarez-Torres, 523 U.S. at 230. The prior conviction does not affect whether the defendant's conduct is unlawful in the instant offense. Moreover, due process requires only "the most basic procedural safeguards," and the United States Supreme Court gives state legislatures "wide leeway" to define the

elements of criminal offenses and to divide responsibility between the judge and jury in criminal cases. *McAllister*, 107 Wis. 2d at 539.

Here, as Braunschweig forthrightly concedes, his prior conviction is not an "element" of his crime. Opening Br. 4–5. The statute implicates recidivism, the most typical sentencing factor. Braunschweig's conduct—driving with an alcohol concentration of 0.16—was unlawful even without his prior conviction. Braunschweig makes no constitutional arguments, nor does he provide any "special justification" to overrule this Court's correct decision in *McAllister*. *Johnson Controls, Inc. v. Emp'rs Ins. of Wausau*, 2003 WI 108, ¶¶ 94–100, 264 Wis. 2d 60, 665 N.W.2d 257.

II. The text makes clear that expunged convictions still count for purposes of the Penalty-Enhancement Statute. Section 340.01(9r), which defines the "words" in the statute, states that a "[c]onviction ... means an unvacated adjudication of guilt." Id. (emphasis added). Vacatur is a legal term of art with a "special definitional meaning." See Kalal, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45. In Wisconsin, an offender can ask a court to vacate his conviction under Wis. Stat. § 974.06 if the court did not have jurisdiction or the law did not authorize the sentence. Vacatur is not equivalent to expunction. Expunction, unlike vacatur, has nothing to do with the validity of the conviction. It merely requires the clerk of court to make court records related to the conviction invisible to the public. Wis. Stat. § 973.015. This courtesy exists to help

young offenders reintegrate into society: for example, by making it more difficult for employers to find out about the conviction. *Allen*, 2017 WI 7, ¶ 42. Vacatur, on the other hand, does not affect the court's retention of the case records.

A contrary interpretation would "contravene [the very] purpose" of the Penalty-Enhancement Statute: to punish those who repeatedly endanger Wisconsin citizens by driving drunk. See Kalal, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 49. Courts have consistently held that expunged convictions count under various penaltyenhancing statutes. See, e.g., United States v. Dyke, 718 F.3d 1282, 1292 (10th Cir. 2013) (Gorsuch, J.). A defendant who recidivates after the "fresh start" provided by the court's grace has "manifestly rejected" the benefits of expunction "by his own conduct." Id. at 1292–93. Indeed, this Court held in State v. Leitner, 2002 WI 77, 253 Wis. 2d 449, 646 N.W.2d 341, that a sentencing court could rely properly on information about a prior conviction from a number of non-court sources including prosecutors' offices, the Department of Transportation, the Department of Corrections, and public defenders' offices. *Id.* $\P\P$ 28, 29, 38, 48.

III. The State satisfies due process when it proves prior convictions by a preponderance of the evidence, especially when those prior convictions do not drastically increase the potential sentence in absolute and relative terms. *United States v. Watts*, 519 U.S. 148, 156 & n.2 (1997) (per curiam). Increases of fewer than five years are generally not drastic. *See United States v. Lombard*, 72 F.3d 170, 186 & n.23 (1st

Cir. 1995); United States v. Galloway, 976 F.2d 414, 424–26 (8th Cir. 1992) (en banc); compare United States v. Jordan, 256 F.3d 922, 929 (9th Cir. 2001).

Here, a preponderance standard satisfies due process. Braunschweig's prior conviction increased his potential sentence by only six months. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)1–2. And the State's submission of Braunschweig's certified DOT driving abstract proved the existence of his prior conviction by a preponderance of the evidence.

IV. "[A] certified DOT driving record is [certainly] admissible and sufficient to prove the status of an alleged repeat offender" under the Penalty-Enhancement Statute beyond a reasonable doubt. Van Riper, 2003 WI App 237, ¶ 16. This Court has repeatedly approved of sentencing courts' reliance on DOT records. Wideman, 206 Wis. 2d at 95–96; State v. Spaeth, 206 Wis. 2d 135, 153, 556 N.W.2d 728 (1996).

Here, Braunschweig's "certified DOT driving record" undisputedly proved the existence of his prior conviction beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Van Riper*, 2003 WI App 237, ¶ 16. It contained detailed identifying information about Braunschweig and his prior conviction, the signature of the Administrator of the Division of Motor Vehicles, and the DOT's "official Seal." R.14:4–6.

ARGUMENT

I. A Prior OWI Conviction Is Not An Element Of The Offense That Needs To Be Proven To A Jury Beyond A Reasonable Doubt

A. In any criminal case, "the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury," U.S. Const. amend. VI, and the State may not deprive the defendant of liberty without "due process of law," id. amend. XIV, § 1. "Taken together, these rights indisputably entitle a criminal defendant to 'a jury determination that [he] is guilty of every element of the crime with which he is charged, beyond a reasonable doubt." Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 477 (quoting United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506, 510 (1995)). Courts have traditionally given legislatures leeway to define the "elements" of particular crimes, such as the *Id.* at 480. defendant's intent. "[D]uring the years surrounding our Nation's founding," the law "annexed" a particular sentence, not a range of sentences, "to the crime." Id. at 478–79. The defendant was on notice of his potential fate at the time of the indictment, and the judge had very little discretion at sentencing. Id. During the 19th century, this country went from "statutes providing fixed-term sentences to those providing judges discretion within a permissible range." Id. at 481. Legislatures wanted judges to issue individualized sentences to "fit the offender and not merely the crime," personal characteristics and taking other relevant information into account. Williams v. New York, 337 U.S.

241, 247 (1949). Although judges used facts not proven to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt to set a sentence within that range, this was constitutionally permissible because the sentence was fully supported by the jury's "verdict" of guilt. *Apprendi*, 530 U.S. at 482–83.

In Apprendi, the Supreme Court confronted a "novel[] ... legislative scheme," where a judge could find facts that "expose[d] the criminal defendant to a penalty exceeding the maximum he would receive if punished according to the facts reflected in the jury verdict alone." Id.; see United States v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220, 237 (2005). The New Jersey statute at issue doubled the maximum punishment for a firearms offense if the trial judge found, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the defendant committed it with "a biased purpose to intimidate" because of "race, color, gender, handicap, religion, sexual orientation, ethnicity." orApprendi, 530 U.S. at 469–70, 495. The Court determined that this statute effectively allowed the judge to find an "element" of the firearms crime that is within the jury's provenance. Id. at 495–96. "New Jersey's biased purpose inquiry goes precisely to what happened in the commission of the [instant] offense." Id. at 496 (citation omitted). Indeed, "[t]he defendant's intent" is "as close as one might hope to come to a core criminal offense element." See id. at 493. In addition, the statute created a "differential" in punishment of "constitutional significance." Id. at 495. It "doubl[ed]" the potential sentence by ten years and attached a "more severe

stigma" for committing a hate crime. *Id.* at 495. As a result, New Jersey's "procedure" was "an unacceptable departure from the jury tradition" and therefore unconstitutional. *Id.* at 497.

The United States Supreme Court has held, however, that a prior conviction is not an "element" of a crime that the State must prove to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 487–88; Almendarez-Torres, 523 U.S. 224.6 In Almendarez-Torres, a federal statute increased the maximum penalty for illegally reentering the United States from two to twenty years if the defendant had been deported as a result of a prior conviction for an "aggravated felony." 523 U.S. at 226, 235-36 (citing 8 U.S.C. § 1326). The defendant claimed this statute violated his due-process rights to have "recidivism," as an "element of the offense," included in the indictment and proven to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 239–40. The Court disagreed. First, the statute "does not relate to the commission of the offense itself," id. at 243-44 (citation omitted); id. at 246, unlike the New Jersey statute at issue in Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 496. The "conduct," illegally reentering the United States, is "independently unlawful"—"[even]

⁶ The Court noted in *Apprendi* that "it is arguable that *Almendarez-Torres* was incorrectly decided," see 530 U.S. at 489–90, but it has repeatedly declined to overrule or modify it, *Dretke v. Haley*, 541 U.S. 386, 395–96 (2004); *Shepard v. United States*, 544 U.S. 13, 25–26 & n. 5 (2005). In fact, the Court has denied "hundreds, if not thousands, of certiorari petitions asking [it] to . . . reconsider *Almendarez-Torres*." Brent E. Newton, Almendarez-Torres and the Anders *Ethical Dilemma*, 45 Hous. L. Rev. 747, 786 (2008).

absen[t] [] the [prior conviction for an aggravated felony]." Almendarez-Torres, 523 U.S. at 230, 244; see also 8 U.S.C. § 1326(a). Second, the statute punishes recidivists, those who commit multiple crimes, perhaps "the most traditional" basis for enhancing sentences. Almendarez-Torres, 523 U.S. at 230, 243–44. Recidivism, the Court said, "is as typical a sentencing factor as one might imagine." Id. at 230. Third, the prior "conviction" is the result of a proceeding with "procedural safeguards" of its own. Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 488. Especially when defendants do not "challenge" the "fact [of prior conviction]," judicial fact-finding does not implicate the Sixth Amendment and due process concerns to the same degree. Id. Fourth, an increase in the "maximum permissive sentence" still allows judges to exercise discretion at Almendarez-Torres, 523 U.S. at 244–45; cf. sentencing. McMillan v. Pennsylvania, 477 U.S. 79 (1986) (approving of a statute imposing a mandatory minimum). Finally, Congress has the "constitutional power" to define the elements of a crime and to choose sentencing factors. Almendarez-Torres, 523 U.S. at 246. There was no "reason . . . to think Congress intended to 'evade' the Constitution" by treating recidivism as Id.Thus, judges could use prior a sentencing factor. convictions to "increase punishment" significantly above the statutory range prescribed for the instant offense. *Id.* at 228.7

⁷ The dissenting Justices in *Almendarez-Torres* disagreed with the majority's interpretation of the statute, 8 U.S.C. § 1326. They argued

This Court has interpreted the Wisconsin Constitution consistently with the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Sixth Amendment in general and on the prior-conviction issue in particular. See McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d at 538; see also State v. Sanchez, 201 Wis. 2d 219, 236, 548 N.W.2d 69 (1996) (Sixth Amendment right to counsel); State v. Burns, 112 Wis. 2d 131, 141–44, 332 N.W.2d 757 (1983) (confrontation right).8 In McAllister, the State charged a defendant with violating Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a) by

that, unlike the Wisconsin Legislature with the Penalty-Enhancing Statute, see McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d at 533-36, Congress intended to make illegal reentry after an "aggravated felony," 8 U.S.C. § 1326(b), a "substantive offense" separate from illegal reentry without a felony conviction, id. § 1326(a). 523 U.S. at 262-70 (Scalia, J., dissenting). Subsection (a) stated that "[s]ubject to subsection (b)[,] any alien who [has been deported and thereafter reenters the United States] . . . shall be ... imprisoned not more than 2 years." Id. at 263. Subsection (b) stated that "[n]otwithstanding subsection (a)[,] . . . any alien" who was deported "subsequent to a conviction for commission of an aggravated felony . . . shall be . . . imprisoned not more than 20 years." Id. at 264. "[A]ll agree[d]" that subsection (a) "define[d] a substantive offense" and subsection (b) had a "parallel structure." Id. at 264. In addition, the "opening phrase of subsection (b)"—"[n]otwithstanding subsection (a)" did "not indicate that what follows merely supplements or enhances the penalty provision of subsection (a)." Id.In fact, the word "notwithstanding" meant that subsection (b) did not apply to any alien convicted under subsection (a), "which is what one would expect if the provision was merely increasing the penalty for certain subsection (a) convictions." Id. Each subsection's reference to the other is simply the "logical way" of indicating the relationship between "two separate crimes." Id. at 265 n.5 (quoting United States v. Forbes, 16 F.3d 1294, 1298 (1st Cir. 1994) (Breyer, J.)).

⁸ Braunschweig does not make any constitutional arguments. *See* Opening Br. 4; Pet. for Review 8.

operating while intoxicated.9 The defendant had two prior OWI violations, McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d at 533, which made him eligible for higher penalties under the Penalty-Enhancement Statute. This Court rejected his constitutional challenge, id. at 533, holding that the prior OWI convictions, whether "civil or criminal," were not "elements" that the State had to prove to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 538. As an initial matter, courts have "[t]raditionally" let legislatures define the elements of particular crimes. Id. at 539; State v. Warbelton, 2009 WI 6, ¶ 22, 315 Wis. 2d 253, 759 N.W.2d 557. The Penalty-Enhancement Statute clearly did "not define a[] [new] offense" or "change[] the nature of the crime." McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d at 537 (citations omitted). McAllister's conduct—operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated—was unlawful whether he had a prior conviction or not. Id. at 536; Almendarez-Torres, 523 U.S. at 230, 244.

In addition, the Penalty-Enhancement Statute is a typical recidivist statute that does not violate the requirements of due process. *McAllister*, 107 Wis. 2d at 538–39; see *Apprendi*, 530 U.S. at 496; *Almendarez-Torres*, 523 U.S. at 230. The Supreme Court allows States "wide leeway" "in administering [recidivist] statutes and in dividing responsibility between the judge and jury in criminal cases."

⁹ This case involved an earlier version of the Penalty-Enhancement Statute. 107 Wis. 2d at 535 n.4. As discussed *infra* pp. 28–30, the statute is similar to the version at issue in this case in all material respects. *Compare* Opening Br. 11.

McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d at 539 (citing Spencer v. Texas, 385) U.S. 554, 560 (1967)). Courts do not interfere unless the scheme violates the "most basic procedural" requirements of due process. *Id*. The Penalty-Enhancement Statute met those requirements. The prior OWI "convictions have already been determined in the justice system and the defendant was protected by his rights in those actions." *Id.* at 539; *Apprendi*, 530 U.S. at 488; see also Schindler v. Clerk of Circuit Court, 715 F.2d 341 (7th Cir. 1983) (upholding use of civil license forfeiture in prior DWI case to enhance penalties for subsequent DWI offenses), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1068 (1984). The defendant had another opportunity to challenge their existence "before the judge prior to sentencing." McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d at 539. A system where the jury would have to hear "evidence of the triggering ... convictions" would "interfere with the fact-finding process and intrude on judicial discretion by allowing the jury to rule on punishment, an area exclusively within the province of the judge." Id. Thus, as with most sentencing facts, the State could prove prior OWI convictions by "competent proof" "to the satisfaction of the judge." *Id.* at 536, 539.

In a very narrow subset of drunk-driving cases, however, prior OWI convictions are "elements" of the crime because the defendant's conduct is not illegal unless they exist. State v. Alexander, 214 Wis. 2d 628 (1997); compare McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d at 536; Almendarez-Torres, 523 U.S. at 244. Specifically, a defendant's "alcohol concentration"

between 0.02 and 0.08 is "prohibited" under Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b) only if he has three or more prior convictions. See Wis. Stat. § 340.01(46m); see also Alexander, 214 Wis. 2d at 640–41. If the defendant disputes the existence of the convictions, the State must prove them to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. Compare Alexander, 214 Wis. 2d at 645, 652.

Many States agree that prior convictions are not "elements" of a crime that the State need prove to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. For example, the Kansas Supreme Court approved of a driving-under-the-influence (DUI) penalty-enhancement scheme similar to Wisconsin's. Kansas v. Kendall, 58 P.3d 660, 667–68 (Kan. 2002). defendant's two prior DUI convictions changed his instant DUI offense "from a misdemeanor to a felony" and increased the maximum penalties. Id. at 667 (citing Kan. Stat. Ann. 1999 Supp. 8-1567(a)). He argued that, because the jury did not find the existence of his prior convictions beyond a reasonable doubt, his sentence violated his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights. The court held, like this Court did in *McAllister*, that the prior conviction was not an "element" of the crime. Id. at 667-68 (citing Apprendi and Almendarez-Torres). As another example, the Indiana Supreme Court held that the Constitution did not require the State to prove the fact of a prior conviction to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt in order for the court to impose a ten-year sentencing enhancement for repeat sex offenses under Indiana Code § 35-50-2-14. Smith v. State, 825 N.E.2d 783, 789 (Ind. 2005). The court discussed Almendarez-Torres, Apprendi, and the "almost total consensus" post-Apprendi "that due process and the Sixth Amendment do not require a jury determination to impose a recidivist sentencing enhancement." Id. (citing United States v. Skidmore, 254 F.3d 635, 642 (7th Cir. 2001)). The Louisiana Supreme Court similarly held that a misdemeanor predicate that increased the maximum sentence for a marijuana-possession conviction did not violate the defendant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights. Louisiana v. Jefferson, 26 So. 3d 112, 117 (La. 2009). The defendant argued that the court should not be able to use the prior misdemeanor conviction because he had no right to a jury trial for that offense. In his view, one of the "procedural safeguards" that justified the exception for prior convictions in Almendarez-Torres was absent. Id. at The court disagreed. "[I]t makes little sense to 118–20. conclude" that a judgment of criminality "fair and reliable enough" to impose criminal penalties in the first instance would later be "constitutionally inadequate for later use to establish the defendant's recidivism." Id. at 120; see also Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 488; Schindler, 715 F.2d at 347; McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d at 539.

B. Here, as this Court specifically held in *McAllister*, the existence of a prior OWI conviction is not an "element" of the crimes charged. The Penalty-Enhancement Statute does not set out a new crime. *See McAllister*, 107 Wis. 2d at 535—

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